NO. 46445-4-II

.

IN THE COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON DIVISION TWO

STATE OF WASHINGTON,

Respondent,

v.

RYAN EFFINGER,

Appellant.

ON APPEAL FROM THE SUPERIOR COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON FOR THURSTON COUNTY

The Honorable Anne Hirsch, Judge

BRIEF OF APPELLANT

JARED B. STEED Attorney for Appellant

NIELSEN, BROMAN & KOCH, PLLC 1908 E Madison Street Seattle, WA 98122 (206) 623-2373

.

Issues Pertaining to Assignments of Error

1. Appellant was charged with 11 felonies, including eight counts of felony violation of a no contact order. Appellant was convicted of five counts of felony violation of a no contact order and acquitted of the

¹ The Judgment and Sentence is attached as an appendix.

remaining charges. A police officer testified that he believed appellant's telephone calls were violations of the no contact orders. Is reversal required where the officer's testimony was an explicit opinion on appellant's guilt?

2. Counsel is ineffective when there is deficient performance and a reasonable probability the error affected the outcome. Was defense counsel ineffective for failing to object to the officer's improper opinion testimony?

3. The trial court ordered appellant to pay \$900 in legal financial obligations, including \$100 for domestic violence assessment fees. The trial court included generic, pre-formatted language in the Judgment and Sentence that concluded appellant had the ability or likely future ability to pay this amount. Nothing in the record, however, indicates the trial court made an individualized determination appellant has the ability, or likely future ability, to pay LFOs. Did the trial court fail to comply with RCW 10.01.160(3) when it imposed a discretionary domestic violence LFO as part of appellant's sentence, thus, making the LFO order erroneous and challengeable for the first time on appeal?

4. Was appellant's trial attorney ineffective for failing to object to the trial court's imposition of discretionary legal financial obligations?

-7-

B. <u>STATEMENT OF THE CASE</u>

1. <u>Procedural History</u>

The Thurston County prosecutor charged appellant Ryan Effinger with 11 felony counts, including one count each of first degree burglary, felony harassment, and fourth degree assault and eight counts of felony violation of a no contact order. CP 9-12.

A jury found Effinger guilty of five counts of felony violation of a no contact order. 1RP^2 403-05; CP 55, 57, 59, 61, 63. The jury also returned a special verdict for each count, finding Effinger and the complaining witness were members of the same household. CP 56, 58, 60, 62, 64. The jury acquitted Effinger of the remaining six charges. 1RP 403, 405-06; CP 49, 51, 53, 65, 67, 69.

Effinger was sentenced to concurrent sentences of 60 months on each conviction. 2RP 21; CP 74-85. Effinger timely appeals. CP 86-88.

2. <u>Trial Testimony</u>

Effinger is married to Jennifer Giovani. Ex. 14. On November 1, 2013 Giovani called 911, alleging Effinger had stayed at her house the previous night in violation of a no contact order. 1RP 91-97. Giovani told Effinger she wanted to end their relationship. Giovani said that Effinger

 $^{^2}$ This brief refers to the verbatim report of proceedings as follows: 1RP – May 19, 20, and 21, 2014; 2RP – June 5, 2014.

then punched her in the mouth and threatened to kill anyone she dated. Giovani took a knife from the kitchen for protection. Effinger then left the house on a bicycle. 1RP 91-97; Ex 5.

Giovani told police the same story when they arrived at her house about 30 minutes later. 1RP 97, 100-03, 110-12. Police saw no marks on Giovani's face or arm "indicating that she had been punched." 1RP 103, 111, 118. Giovani declined medical attention. 1RP 92.

Giovani's 16-year-old daughter, S.V., disputed the story Giovani told police. 1RP 282-83. S.V. explained only her and Giovani were home on October 31, 2013. S.V. went to bed. 1RP 285. When S.V. woke up the next morning, she heard Giovani banging things around the kitchen. Giovani was drinking vodka. 1RP 286, 289. S.V. explained that Giovani was upset that she could not spend her birthday with Effinger because of the no contact order. 1RP 287-89, 295. S.V. saw nothing indicating Effinger had slept at the house the night before. 1RP 286-87.

S.V. left the house a short time later to get breakfast with her friends at Walmart. S.V. saw Effinger sleeping in his truck in the Walmart parking lot. 1RP 292.

Around Thanksgiving 2013, Giovani asked her friend Cheryl Adams if she could use Adams' address to correspond with Effinger. 1RP 132. Adams agreed. 1RP 133. About five letters addressed to a Liz Adams were mailed to Adams' house. 1RP 133-35, 139. Adams did not know who Liz Adams was. 1RP 144. The letters were signed by Effinger. 1RP 134-35, 139-40. Adams told Giovani about the letters. Adams later felt uneasy about the arraignment and destroyed the letters. 1RP 134-35.

A short time later, police received an anonymous complaint that Effinger was violating the no contact order with Giovani. 1RP 166, 199, 212. As a result, police began investigating the letters sent to Adams' house. 1RP 239. Adams' initially told police she was not acquainted with Giovani. 1RP 245-48. Adams later told deputy sheriff George Oplinger that Giovani made up the name Liz Adams to receive letters from Effinger. 1RP 238, 247-48. Giovani's middle name was Elizabeth. 1RP 267.

Oplinger confiscated three envelopes between Liz Adams and Effinger that were postmarked February 2014. 1RP 249-51; Ex 15. Oplinger acknowledged he was not qualified in handwriting analysis. Oplinger did not consult with a handwriting expert. 1RP 263. The letters were not tested for fingerprints. 1RP 265.

Police also investigated Effinger's telephone calls from jail. 1RP 259. Thurston County Sheriff's Lieutenant Debra Thompson, listened to several telephone calls made from the jail. 1RP 167-68. Thompson could

not say how many calls she listened to. 1RP 207, 212. A call on November 11, 2013 was placed using Effinger's jail pin number. 1RP 173-75; Ex. 9. Another call on November 15, 2013 was placed using the jail pin number of someone named Daren Evans. 1RP 175-95; Ex. 9. The women who received the calls both identified themselves as "Tracy." 1RP 174, 176, 211; Ex. 9.

Thompson acknowledged she could not say for certain who Effinger was speaking with in the telephone calls. 1RP 213. Thompson did not know who the number Effinger called belonged to. 1RP 213-14.

Thompson nonetheless opined that two calls, placed on November 11 and 15, 2013, violated the no contact order. 1RP 169, 213. Thompson explained that in one of the calls Effinger asked the woman not to leave him, referred to her as his wife, and called her Jen. 1RP 169-70. Thompson described Effinger's voice as "nasally," and having a lisp. 1RP 170. Thompson acknowledged she was not qualified in assessing voice recognition and did not compare all of the voices on the jail telephone calls. 1RP 200, 207-08. Giovani did not testify at trial. 1RP 269, 271-73, 277.

C. <u>ARGUMENT</u>

1. IMPROPER OPINION TESTIMONY DEPRIVED EFFINGER OF A FAIR TRIAL

Expressions of personal belief as to guilt are "clearly inappropriate" testimony in criminal trials. <u>State v. Montgomery</u>, 163 Wn.2d 577, 591, 183 P.3d 267 (2008). Opinion testimony intrudes on the jury's role as factfinder, which is to be held inviolate under Washington's constitution. Wash. Const. art. I, §§ 21, 22; <u>Montgomery</u>, 163 Wn.2d at 590; <u>Sofie v. Fibreboard Corp.</u>, 112 Wn.2d 636, 656, 771 P.2d 711 (1989).

To determine whether an opinion is improper, courts consider (1) the type of witness involved, (2) the specific nature of the testimony, (3) the nature of the charges, (4) the type of defense, and (5) the other evidence before the trier of fact. <u>State v. Johnson</u>, 152 Wn. App. 924, 931, 219 P.3d 958 (2009) (citing <u>State v. Hudson</u>, 150 Wn. App. 646, 653, 208 P.3d 1236 (2009)). An explicit or nearly explicit opinion on credibility or guilt is manifest constitutional error that may be raised for the first time on appeal. <u>Montgomery</u>, 163 Wn.2d at 595; <u>State v. Kirkman</u>, 159 Wn.2d 918, 934-35, 155 P.3d 125 (2007); <u>State v. Barr</u>, 123 Wn. App. 373, 381-84, 98 P.3d 518 (2004), <u>rev. denied</u>, 154 Wn.2d 1009 (2005).

a. <u>Officer Thompson's Was Improper Opinion</u> <u>Testimony.</u>

Here, Effinger's right to a fair trial was compromised beyond repair when the jury heard testimony from Officer Thompson that she believed Effinger's telephone calls violated the no contact order. On direct examination, the following exchange occurred between the prosecutor and Officer Thompson:

- Q: Did you believe that these calls were violations of the No Contact Order?
- A: Yes, I did.
- Q: What about the calls made you believe that?
- A: Well, there were several things. When I looked at the police report, the victim indicated that she was in the process of leaving Mr. Effinger. And in a recorded call – in on of the recorded calls, if not both – I can't remember – he basically begs her not to leave him. He indicates – about a minute into one of the calls, he calls her 'Jen.' You can barely hear it, but he says 'Jen,' and that's her first name, Jen or Jennifer. He also refers to her as his wife once during the phone call. And he talks about kissing his ring on his finger. And they also discuss something about a pysch eval during both phone calls.

1RP 169-70.

Thompson's testimony that she believed Effinger violated the no contact order was an explicit opinion on Effinger's guilt. State v. Barr³ and State v. Jones⁴ are instructive.

³ 123 Wn. App. at 373.

Barr was charged with rape, unlawful imprisonment, and vehicle prowl. <u>Barr</u>, 123 Wn. App. at 378. At trial, a police officer explained that a particular type of investigative technique trained him to look for verbal and nonverbal clues that someone was being deceptive. The officer testified that using this technique he was able to determine that Barr's posture, breathing, voice inflection, and mentions of prison indicated that Barr was being deceptive. <u>Barr</u>, 123 Wn. App. at 378-79.

Barr argued for the first time on appeal that the officer's testimony was an impermissible opinion on Barr's guilt. <u>Barr</u>, 123 Wn. App. at 380-81. The Court of Appeals agreed, finding the testimony embodied the officer's opinion that Barr committed the offence and that his training in evaluating Barr's statements and body language proved this opinion was true. The Court explained, "In other words, the officer was testifying, as an expert, as to his opinion regarding manifestations of Mr. Barr's guilt." <u>Barr</u>, 123 Wn. App. at 382.

The Court rejected the State's argument that the testimony was not improper because the officer did not testify that Barr was being deceptive, but rather, only that Barr's behavior showed signs of deception. The Court noted, the officer's testimony was "clearly designed" to give the officer's opinion as to Barr's guilt. <u>Barr</u>, 123 Wn. App. at 382.

⁴ 117 Wn. App. 89, 68 P.3d 1154 (2003).

In <u>Jones</u>, the officer who conducted an interrogation of Jones testified that when Jones discussed the incident under investigation, "I just didn't believe him." <u>Jones</u>, 117 Wn. App. at 91. On appeal, the State argued the officer's testimony was not an improper opinion, but instead, a discussion of interrogation techniques. <u>Jones</u>, 117 Wn. App. at 91. This Court disagreed. The Court noted that the officer's testimony told the jury that the officer did not believe Jones' claims. The Court further explained that, "clothing the opinion in the garb of an interviewing technique does not help." <u>Jones</u>, 117 Wn. App. at 92. Thus, this Court found the officer's testimony was inadmissible opinion evidence. <u>Jones</u>, 117 Wn. App. at 92-93.

Like <u>Barr</u> and <u>Jones</u>, here Thompson impermissibly gave opinion testimony as to Effinger's guilt. That Thompson's opinion was given in the context of his testimony explaining his investigation into the telephone calls makes no difference. Thompson's testimony was "clearly designed" to give an opinion as to Effinger's guilt. <u>Barr</u>, 123 Wn. App. at 382.

> b. <u>Thompson's Opinion on Guilt Was Manifest</u> <u>Constitutional Error that Prejudiced Effinger's</u> <u>Case.</u>

An explicit or almost explicit expert opinion on the defendant's guilt can constitute reversible error, reviewable even though raised for the first time on appeal. <u>Montgomery</u>, 163 Wn.2d at 595; <u>Kirkman</u>, 159

Wn.2d at 934-35; <u>Barr</u>, 123 Wn. App. at 381-84. Improper opinion testimony is constitutional error because it violates the right to trial by a fair and impartial jury. <u>Id.</u> Constitutional error is manifest when it causes actual prejudice or has practical and identifiable consequences. <u>Montgomery</u>, 163 Wn.2d at 595; <u>see also State v. King</u>, 167 Wn.2d 324, 330, 219 P.3d 642 (2009) (opinion testimony regarding a defendant's guilt is reversible error if the testimony violates the defendant's constitutional right to a jury trial, which includes the independent determination of the facts by the jury).

This Court will find "a constitutional error harmless only if convinced beyond a reasonable doubt any reasonable jury would reach the same result absent the error," and "where the untainted evidence is so overwhelming it necessarily leads to a finding of guilt." <u>State v. Easter</u>, 130 Wn.2d 228, 242, 922 P.2d 1285 (1996). The State bears the burden of proving it was harmless. <u>State v. Guloy</u>, 104 Wn.2d 412, 425, 705 P.2d 1182 (1985), <u>cert. denied</u>, 475 U.S. 1020 (1986); <u>State v. Pruitt</u>, 145 Wn. App. 784, 798-99, 187 P.2d 326 (2008). The opinion testimony in this caused such prejudice and affected the jury because the instructions were insufficient to correct the error, the verdict rested largely on credibility, and Officer Thompson's opinion was inherently likely to affect the jury regardless of instruction.

In <u>Montgomery</u>, the court concluded there was no manifest constitutional error in large part because the jury was properly instructed, including an instruction that the jury was not bound by expert opinion. 163 Wn.2d at 595-96. Here, the jury was properly instructed that it is the sole judge of witness credibility. CP 16 (instruction 1). But it was also instructed to consider all the admitted evidence, including testimony. CP 15-17 (instruction 1); CP 21 (instruction 5). Nothing in the instructions told the jury it could not consider Thompson's opinion as evidence of guilt.

Even if it had been instructed to do so, it is unlikely the jury would be able to follow that instruction. When a police officer gives opinion testimony, "the jury is especially likely to be influenced by that testimony," because such testimony often "carries a special aurora of reliability." <u>Kirkman</u>, 159 Wn.2d at 928 (citing <u>State v. Demery</u>, 144 Wn.2d 753, 765, 30 P.3d 1278 (2001)). Thompson's opinion carried extra weight and unduly influenced the jury. <u>Barr</u>, 123 Wn. App. at 384.

Moreover, this was not a case like <u>Montgomery</u> where there was substantial physical evidence indicating guilt. 163 Wn.2d at 586-87. In <u>Montgomery</u>, the only disputed issue was whether Montgomery possessed the pseudoephedrine with intent to manufacture methamphetamine. 163 Wn.2d at 594. The court concluded there was sufficient circumstantial evidence of intent in that he also purchased, on the same day, two other distinctive ingredients of methamphetamine. <u>Montgomery</u>, 163 Wn.2d at 586-87.

Here, no voice analysis confirmed the voices heard on the telephone calls were those of Effinger and Giovani. 1RP 200, 207-08. Neither of the women on the telephone calls identified themselves as Giovani. 1RP 171, 200, 213. One of the calls was not placed using Effinger's jail pin number. 1RP 169-70. Absent the telephone calls, the no contact order cases hinged on the credibility of the police officers and Cheryl Adams. The jury questioned the credibility of the State's witnesses as evidenced by its not guilty verdict on six of the charged offenses, including three other alleged violations of the no contact orders. 1RP 403, 405-06. Thompson's opinion on Effinger's guilt impermissibly bolstered the State's case.

The <u>Montgomery</u> court declared, "[I]f there were evidence that these improper opinions influenced the jury's verdict, we would not hesitate to find actual prejudice and manifest constitutional error regardless of the failure to object or the likelihood that an objection would have been sustained." 163 Wn.2d at 596 n.9. In contrast, in <u>Barr</u>, the Court of Appeals concluded the manifest constitutional error was not harmless and reversed Barr's convictions. 123 Wn. App. at 384. The Court noted the "ultimate issue" revolved an assessment of the credibility of Barr and the complaining witness. <u>Barr</u>, 123 Wn. App. at 384. Recognizing the opinion of the police officer was likely to influence the jury, the Court found the untainted evidence was not so overwhelming that admission of the improper opinion evidence was harmless beyond a reasonable doubt. <u>Barr</u>, 123 Wn. App. at 384.

Like <u>Barr</u>, here, the integrity and authority of the Thurston County Sheriff's Department buttressed Thompson's opinion that Effinger was guilty. Given the special aura of reliability Thompson's opinion carried, the lack of instruction regarding opinion testimony, and the centrality of credibility in this case, this Court should conclude this error affected the jury's verdict, find manifest constitutional error, and reverse.

2. COUNSEL WAS INEFFECTIVE IN FAILING TO OBJECT TO THIS HIGHLY PREJUDICIAL OPINION TESTIMONY.

Alternatively, if this Court concludes this issue was not preserved, Effinger was denied his right to effective assistance of counsel.

The federal and state constitutions guarantee the right to effective representation. U.S. Const. Amend. 6; Const. art. 1, § 22 (amend. 10); <u>State v. Thomas</u>, 109 Wn.2d 222, 229, 743 P.2d 816 (1987). Ineffective assistance of counsel is established if: (1) counsel's performance was deficient, and (2) the deficient performance prejudiced the defendant. <u>Thomas</u>, 109 Wn.2d at 225-26 (adopting two-prong test from <u>Strickland v</u>.

Washington, 466 U.S. 668, 687, 104 S. Ct. 2052, 80 L. Ed. 2d 674 (1984)). Deficient performance occurs when counsel's conduct falls below an objective standard of reasonableness. <u>State v. Stenson</u>, 132 Wn.2d 668, 705, 940 P.2d 1239 (1997). Prejudice occurs when, but for counsel's unprofessional errors, there is a reasonable probability that the outcome of the proceeding would have differed. <u>In re Personal Restraint of Pirtle</u>, 136 Wn.2d 467, 487, 965 P.2d 593 (1998).

The failure to object to this clearly improper and highly prejudicial opinion on guilt was unreasonably deficient. Legitimate trial strategy or tactics may constitute reasonable performance. <u>State v. Aho</u>, 137 Wn.2d 736, 745, 975 P.2d 512 (1999). But there is no possible strategic reason for permitting clearly improper opinion testimony that Thompson believed Effinger had violated the no contact order. This opinion testimony went directly to an ultimate issue the jury had to decide. An objection to this improper opinion testimony would likely have been sustained. Indeed, case law in existence well before Effinger's trial clearly warned against the type of improper witness opinion evidence at issue here.

Moreover, Effinger has shown prejudice. As discussed in argument one, <u>infra</u>, there is a reasonable probability that introduction of Thompson's opinion evidence affected the jury's verdict. There is a reasonable probability this testimony tipped the scale in the State's favor and that, had counsel objected, the result of the jury's verdict would have been different. Effinger's convictions should be reversed because counsel's failure to object was objectively unreasonable and undermines confidence in the outcome of the trial. <u>See Strickland</u>, 466 U.S. at 669.

3. THE TRIAL COURT FAILED TO MAKE AN INDIVIDUALIZED INQUIRY INTO EFFINGER'S CURRENT AND FUTURE ABILITY TO PAY BEFORE IMPOSING A DOMESTIC VIOLENCE ASSESSMENT FEE

RCW 9.94A.760 permits the court to impose costs "authorized by law" when sentencing an offender for a felony. RCW 10.01.160(3) permits the sentencing court to order an offender to pay LFOs, but only if the trial court has first considered his individual financial circumstances and concluded he has the ability, or likely future ability, to pay. The record here does not show the trial court in fact considered Effinger's ability or future ability before it imposed LFOs. Because such consideration is statutorily required, the trial court's imposition of LFOs was erroneous and the validity of the order may be challenged for the first time on appeal.

> a. <u>Because The Sentencing Court Did Not Comply</u> <u>With RCW 10.01.160(3), Effinger May Challenge</u> the LFO Order For The First Time on Appeal.

RCW 10.01.160(3) provides:

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