No. 46445-4-II

IN THE COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON
DIVISION TWO

STATE OF WASHINGTON,

Respondent,

v.

RYAN EFFINGER,

Appellant.

ON APPEAL FROM THE SUPERIOR COURT OF THE
STATE OF WASHINGTON FOR THURSTON COUNTY

The Honorable Anne Hirsch, Judge
Cause No. 13-1-01630-7

BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

Carol La Verne
Attorney for Respondent

2000 Lakeridge Drive S.W.
Olympia, Washington 98502
(360) 786-5540

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

4. Whether taking for cause and peremptory challenges to the jury venire at a sidebar violated Effinger's right to a public trial under the United States and Washington Constitutions.

5. Whether taking for cause and peremptory challenges to the jury venire at a sidebar violated Effinger's right to be present at a critical stage of the proceedings.

B. STATEMENT OF THE CASE.

The State accepts the appellant's statement of the substantive and procedural facts of the case.

C. ARGUMENT.

1. There was no improper opinion testimony regarding Effinger's credibility or guilt. Even if the testimony were error, it was harmless because it could have had no effect on the outcome of the trial.

Effinger argues that a State witness improperly testified that he was guilty of violation of a no-contact order, violating his right to a fair trial under Washington Constitution art. I, § 21 and 22.

Appellant's Opening Brief at 12. Lt. Debra Thompson, a supervisor in the Thurston County Sheriff's Department Correctional Facility, testified about the jail telephone system and about her investigation into telephone calls made to a phone number Effinger was prohibited from calling. RP 162-66.¹ Thompson testified that she listened to an unknown number of calls, but only logged two in her incident report. RP 168-69. The prosecutor, seeking to explain why those two calls were significant, first asked if they were concerning to Thompson. Thompson replied that concern wasn't the word she would use. RP 169. The prosecutor then asked if Thompson believed those calls were violations of a no-contact order, and Thompson replied that she did. The testimony then continued as follows:

Q: What about those calls made you believe that?

A: Well, there were several things. When I looked at the police report, the victim indicated that she was in the process of leaving Mr. Effinger. And in a recorded call—in one of the recorded calls, if not both—I can't remember—he basically begs her not to leave him. He indicates—about a minute into one of the calls, he calls her "Jen." You can barely hear it, but he says "Jen," and that's her first name, Jen or Jennifer. He also refers to her as his wife once during the phone call. And he talks about kissing his ring on his finger.

¹ Unless otherwise identified, all references to the Verbatim Report of Proceedings are to the two-volume trial transcript dated May 19, 20, and 21, 2014.

And they also discuss something about a psych eval during both phone calls.

Q: Okay. And so is—were there similarities between—because you said the two calls were not made under the same inmate's pin number, is that correct?

A: Correct.

Q: And so were there similarities between the two calls that made you believe that both calls were made by the same two individuals—involving the same two individuals?

A: Yeah. There was an issue with a—with Jennifer, Ms. Giovani, had asked him in one of the calls—well, in both of the calls, to—something about getting a psych eval signed or a copy of the psych eval. And also, he was—in both calls, he was real panicky.

He's got a certain quality to his voice in the calls. It sounds like he may be kind of nasally, might even at times have a lisp.

RP 169-70. Effinger did not object to this testimony.

“The general rule is that no witness, lay or expert, may testify ‘testify to his opinion as to the guilt of the defendant, whether by direct statement or inference.’” Seattle v. Heatley, 70 Wn. App. 573, 577, 854 P.2d 658 (1993) (quoting State v. Black, 109 Wn.2d 336, 348, 745 P.2d 12 (1987)). Such testimony invades the province of the fact-finder and is unduly prejudicial. Id.

However, testimony that is not a direct comment on the defendant's guilt or on the veracity of a witness, is otherwise helpful to the jury, and is based on

inferences from the evidence is not improper opinion testimony.

Id. at 578. Opinion testimony is defined as “testimony based on one’s belief or idea rather than on direct knowledge of the facts at issue.” State v. Demery, 144 Wn.2d 753, 760, 30 P.3d 1278 (2001)

When deciding whether particular statements are impermissible opinion evidence, the court considers five factors:

(1) the type of witness involved, (2) the specific nature of the testimony, (3) the nature of the charges, (4) the type of defense, and (5) the other evidence before the trier of fact.

Id. at 759. An opinion is not automatically inadmissible just because it addresses an issue that the jury must decide. State v. Kirkman, 159 Wn.2d 918, 929, 155 P.3d 125 (2007). “In some instances, a witness who testifies to his belief that the defendant is guilty is merely stating the obvious, such as when a police officer testifies that he arrested the defendant because he had probable cause to believe he committed the offense.” State v. Sutherby, 138 Wn. App. 609, 617, 158 P.3d 91 (2007), *affirmed in part and reversed in part* 165 Wn.2d 870, 204 P.3d 916 (2009). Similarly, an inference resulting from an investigation is not necessarily

impermissible opinion testimony. State v. Stark, 183 Wn. App. 893, 904-05, 334 P.3d 1196 (2014).

Under these circumstances, nothing in the record suggests that the testimony was unfairly prejudicial, *i.e.*, that it persuaded the jury to abdicate its responsibility and decide the case on a basis other than the evidence and the pertinent law.

Heatley, 70 Wn. App. at 582.

A claim of error may be raised for the first time on appeal only if it is a manifest error affecting a constitutional right. RAP 2.5(a)(3). If a reviewing court concludes that had an objection been made it would have been sustained, then the court must decide if the admission of the testimony amounted to a manifest constitutional error. State v. Madison, 53 Wn. App. 754, 762, 770 P.2d 662 (1989). The exception for manifest constitutional errors is intended to be a narrow one. Kirkman, 159 Wn.2d at 934. “Appellate courts are and should be reluctant to conclude that questioning, to which no objection was made at trial, gives rise to a ‘manifest constitutional error’ reviewable for the first time on appeal.” Madison, 53 Wn. App. at 762. Testimony that touches on an ultimate fact, which is not objected to, is not automatically a manifest error and thus not automatically reviewable. State v. King, 167 Wn.2d 324, 332, 219 P.3d 642 (2009). The burden is on the

defendant to show how the error actually affected his rights. “It is this showing of actual prejudice that makes the error ‘manifest,’ allowing appellate review. Kirkman, 159 Wn.2d at 926-27.

The court in Madison, 53 Wn. App 754, explained the correct analysis. If the reviewing court concludes that there was error, it must decide if it was of constitutional magnitude. If not, the court should deny review. If the court finds that the claim is of constitutional magnitude, then the harmless error analysis applies. Id. at 763. “Strong policy reasons support the use of harmless error analysis. ‘A judicial system which treats every error as a basis for reversal simply could not function because, although the courts can assure a fair trial, they cannot guarantee a perfect one.’” State v. White, 72 Wn.2d 524, 531, 433 P.2d 692 (1967). “A reversal should occur only when the reliability of the verdict is called into question.” State v. Neidigh, 78 Wn. App. 71, 78-79, 895 P.2d 423 (1995).

Effinger cites to State v. Barr, 123 Wn. App. 373, 98 P.3d 518 (2004), *review denied*, 154 Wn.2d 1009, 114 P.3d 1198 (2005), and State v. Jones, 117 Wn. App. 89, 68 P.3d 1153 (2003), to support his argument that Thompson gave improper opinion testimony. Both cases are distinguishable from Effinger’s. In Barr,

a police officer testified that he had training which allowed him to detect when a person was lying and described the responses of the defendant that he interpreted as indicating deception. Barr, 123 Wn. App. at 378-79. The Court of Appeals reversed, finding that this was an impermissible opinion about Barr's guilt, and that it was a manifest error of constitutional magnitude that could be raised for the first time on appeal. Id. at 375-76.

In Jones, a police officer testified extensively about his interview of the defendant and that he did not believe Jones. The Court of Appeals found that to be an opinion of Jones' credibility. Jones, 117 Wn. App. at 92.² In Effinger's case, Thompson was not testifying about Effinger's credibility, or even about anything that could be construed as an expert opinion. Her opinion was that the parties in both telephone calls were Effinger and Giovani, and she listed the reasons she believed that. RP 169-70. The jury listened to recordings of both calls. RP 173-195. It could observe those

² The court in Demery reached a different result. In that case, the court admitted a recording of Demery's interview by the police during which the officers accused the defendant of lying. 144 Wn.2d at 756-57. In a plurality opinion, the Supreme Court found this not to be "testimony," and thus not "opinion testimony." Id. at 760. "Because the officers' statements were not made under oath at trial, we conclude that they do not fall within the definition of opinion testimony for purposes of the evidentiary prohibition." "[W]e have consistently declined to take an expansive view of claims that testimony constitutes an opinion on guilt." Id. at 760. The court went on to explain that the statements were admitted to provide context to the defendant's answers to questions. Id. at 761.

same characteristics itself. Thompson was clear that she was not qualified in voice recognition, RP 200, but Effinger offered no evidence at trial, nor does he argue on appeal, that only voice recognition experts can determine if the voices on two different recordings belong to the same people. It is common sense that most people, having heard the first recording, could come to a conclusion about whether the same people are speaking in the second recording.

Thompson's testimony was more like police officers testifying that they developed probable cause to arrest than like police officers testifying they can tell when a person is lying. It is not the sort of testimony that invades the province of the jury, and it is not reasonable to conclude that the jury convicted Effinger for those two counts of violating a no-contact order solely because Thompson was of the opinion that the calls constituted a violation. Even if it were error, it would be harmless. An error is harmless "unless, within reasonable probabilities, had the error not occurred, the outcome of the trial would have been materially affected." State v. Smith, 106 W.2d 772, 780, 725 P.2d 951 (1986) (quoting State v. Cunningham, 93 Wn.2d 823, 831, 613 P.2d 1139 (1980)).

It is true that courts have held that testimony at trial by a police officer may carry an “aura of special reliability and trustworthiness.” Demery, 144 Wn.2d at 763, quoting United States v. Espinosa, 827 F.2d 604, 613 (9th Cir. 1987); Kirkman, 159 Wn.2d at 928. However, the testimony of the officer should be considered in context to determine whether it “fundamentally affect[ed] the fairness of the trial.” Dubria v. Smith, 224 F.3d 995, 1001 (9th Cir. 2000). The opinions of a police officer are not presumptively prejudicial. Dubria, 224 F.3d at 1001 n. 3.

Effinger concludes that because the jury acquitted him of six charges it must have disbelieved the State’s witnesses and thus Thompson’s “opinion” packed extra weight. Appellant’s Opening Brief at 18. The record does not support that inference. The telephone calls were the basis for Counts 4 and 5, CP 10, and the jury heard the calls. Counts 1, 2, 3, and 11, CP 9-10, 12, were charges that depended on Giovanni’s credibility, and she did not testify.

The final six charges, 6 through 10, all for violation of a no-contact order, were based upon the letters sent to Cheryl Adams’ address. CP 11-12; RP 133-34; RP 350. Adams testified she received five or six letters addressed to Liz Adams, opened one or

two, and tore up some of them. RP 134. Envelopes for three of the letters were admitted into evidence as Exhibit 15. RP 249-51. The most likely explanation for the fact that the jury convicted Effinger of three counts of violation of a no-contact order connected with the letters and acquitted him of two counts is that there was documentary evidence of three letters. The jury convicted where there was some physical or audio evidence it could examine, and acquitted where there was not. There is no basis to believe Thompson's "opinion" carried any significant weight.

Finally, defense counsel, rather than objecting to Thompson's testimony, inquired:

A: A report. Okay. And you think that he's been violating the—this No Contact Order; is that correct?

A: Correct.

Q: But you don't know for certain who he was talking to.

A: No. Not 100 percent, no.

Q: 360-470-8895. Do you know whose number that is?

A: No, I do not.

Q: Do you know—or do you have any sort of paperwork from the cell phone company or other company that shows who this number belongs to?

A: I do not.

RP 213-14. Counsel impeached Thompson's "opinion," making it even less likely that it was prejudicial to Effinger. If there were error, which the State does not concede, it was harmless error. A harmless error would not be a manifest error, and therefore this court should not consider his claim for the first time on appeal.

2. The trial court did not consider Effinger's ability to pay before imposing the domestic violence assessment. This court should decline to consider a claim of statutory violation for the first time on appeal where that violation did not affect the fairness of the trial.

The trial court imposed, without objection, a domestic violence assessment of \$100. CP 77. It did not consider Effinger's current or future ability to pay the assessment. Sentencing RP 21. Effinger is correct that this assessment is discretionary. A domestic violence assessment fee is permitted under RCW 10.99.080. "All superior courts...may impose a penalty assessment not to exceed one hundred dollars on any person convicted of a crime involving domestic violence. The assessment shall be in addition to, and shall not supersede, any other penalty, restitution, fines, or costs provided by law." RCW 10.99.080(1). "[J]udges are *encouraged* to solicit input from the victim or representatives for the

victim in assessing the ability of the convicted offender to pay the penalty, including information regarding current financial obligations, family circumstances, and ongoing restitution.” RCW 10.99.080(5), emphasis added.

As before, errors not raised in the trial court will not be addressed for the first time on appeal. A narrow exception exists for "manifest error[s] affecting a constitutional right." RAP 2.5(a)(3); Kirkman, 159 Wn.2d at 936. The imposition of legal financial obligations (LFOs) is not of constitutional magnitude. State v. Blazina, 182 Wn.2d 827, 840, 344 P.3d 680 (2015), Fairhurst, J., concurring. In Blazina, the court exercised its own discretion under RAP 2.5, without elaboration, to address the imposition of LFOs for the first time on appeal. Id. at 830. That case did not, however, imply that every such challenge should be considered on appeal if not raised below.

Unpreserved LFO errors do not command review as a matter of right under *Ford*³ and its progeny. . . . We thought it justifiable to review these challenges [to miscalculated offender scores and vague community custody conditions] raised for the first time on appeal because the error, if permitted to stand, would create inconsistent sentences for the same crime and because some defendants would receive unjust

³ State v. Ford, 137 Wn.2d 472, 973 P.2d 452 (1999).

punishment simply because his or her attorney failed to object.

But allowing challenges to discretionary LFO orders would not promote sentencing uniformity in the same way. . . . The legislature did not intend LFO orders to be uniform among cases of similar crimes. . . . The error is unique to these defendants' circumstances and the Court of Appeals properly exercised its discretion to decline review.

Blazina, 182 Wn.2d at 833-34.

Having made the ruling that sentencing courts must make individual inquiries into the defendant's current and future ability to pay before imposing LFOs, the Blazina court did not also require that every challenge made for the first time on appeal be considered. Id. at 835. The Court of Appeals has concluded that since consideration of the ability to pay LFOs is something a defendant is more likely to waive than overlook, this is "the sort of issue we should decline to consider for the first time on appeal." State v. Duncan, 180 Wn. App. 245, 253, 327 P.3d 699 (2014), *review pending decision in Blazina*, 2014 Wash. LEXIS 547 (July 9, 2014).

If this court declines to hear Effinger's challenge, he still has the ability to obtain review of his ability to pay at the time the State attempts to collect the LFOs. If the sentencing court finds at a later

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